COMMONWEALTH OF F’ENNSYLVANEA POL[CE CRlM[NAL COMPLAINT
COUNTY OF:CLEARFIELD Js COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Magisterial District Number: 46-3-01 LR VS.
MDJ: Hon. Carmine Prestia DEFENDANT (NAME and ADDRESS):
Address: 309 Maple Avenue, PO Box 452 _JOHN - _FRED SUPLIZIO
Dubois, PA 15801 First Name ' Middle Name Last Name Gen
710 Munro Street, Dubois, PA 15801
Teiephone (814)371 5321
: o - NCIc Extradition Code Type.. R i R
E 1 Fe!ony Fal D 5 Felony Pendlng Extradition [} C-Misdemeanor Surroundmg States [ Distance:
[T 2-Felony Limited {1 6-Felony Pending Extradition Determ. [ ] D-Misdemeanor No Extradition
1 3-Felony Surrounding States X A-Misdemeanor Full [1 E-Misdemeanor Pending Extradition
l:l 4- Felony No Extradition I:I B-Misdemeanor Limited E} Fansdemeanor Pending Extradltlon
- T ~ DEFENDANT IDENTIFICATION INFORMATION T el i o
Do ket Number Date Filed TN/LiveScan Number Comptamt/incndent Number Request Lab Services?
(g' ?’03’ 23 1014 17 [0003i0-3 PCS-21-0005-2 Ll YEs BINO
GENDER pos 06/06/1960 |poB Pa | AdeipoB [ / Co-Defendant(s) []
Xl Male First Name Middile Name Last Name 1 Gen.
D Female | AKA HERM SUPLIZIO
RACE B White [ Asian . [1 Black [] Native American 1 Unknown
ETHNICITY 1 Hispanic Non-Hispanic ] Unknown
) Xl GRY (Gray) {1 RED (Red/Aubn.} ] SDY (Sandy) {7 8LU (Blue) [ PLE (Purple) £.1 BRO (Brown) -
gﬂ:;r {1 BLK (Black) {3 oNG (Orange) {1 w1 (white) [T XXX (Unk/Baid) ] GRN (Green) [ PNK (Pink)
) BLN {Blonde / Strawberry) .
Eye [ 8LK (Black) 1 BLU (Blue) BRO (Brown) ~ [1GRN (Green) L1 GRY (Gray)
| Color [ HAZ (Hazel) . LI mAR (Maroon) L1 PNK (Pink) 1 MUL (Multicolored) [ XXX (Unknown)
DNA 01 YES [ NO | DNA Location WEIGHT (ibs.)
FBI Number ‘ ] MNU Number :
Defendant Fingerprinted ! O YES [dNO Ft. HEIGHT In.
Fingerprint Classification: ’ I ) . . l
: PEFENDANT VEHICLE INFORMATION :
State | Haz Registration "Comm’l Veh. Schooi Veh. [ ] [ Oth. NCIC Veh. Code Req.
Plate # “E‘ Sticker (MMIYY) [ Ind. [] Same.as
VIN . | Year Make Mode! - Style Color O

Office of the attorney for the Commonwealth [1 Approved [1 Disapproved because:

(The attarney for the Commonwealth may require that the com;ilaint. arrest warrant affidavit, or both be approved by the attorney for the Commonweatth prior to
filing. See Pa.R.Crim.P. 507).

{Name of the attorney for the Commonwealth) v (Signature of the attorney for the Commonweallh) (Date)

L - ' |
{Name of the Affiant) (PSP/MPOETC -Assigned Affiant ID Number & Badge #

of __ Pennsylvania Office of Attornev General PA0222400 N
(Identify Depariment or Agency Represented and Political Subdivision} (Police Agency ORI Number)

do hereby state: (check appropriate box)
1. & | accuse the above named defendant who lives at the address set forth above
O | accuse the defendant whose name is unknown to me but who is described as

1 I accuse the defendant whose name and popular designation or nickname are unknown to me and whom | have
therefore designated as John Doe or Jane Doe

with violating the penal laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania at | | Dubofs, Pa-170303
{SubTwWis|gh Code} ~ (Place-Political SUbdIvViSIon)

in CLEARFIELD County 1171 on or about MISC TIMES JAN. 1, 2014 TO FEB. 28, 2022
(County Code)




'@‘ POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

et Number:

‘ DateFlled ) OTNILweSGan  Number Complaint/Incident Number
j ~ 305273 [0 14123 6 /0002103 PCS-21-0005-2
Defendant N - First: Middle: Last:
etendant Name: JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if appropriate.
When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegediy violated,
without more, is not sufficient. {n a summary case, you must cite the specific section{s} and subsection{s) of the statute(s} or ordinance(s) allegedly violated

The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, social security numbers and financial information (e.g. PINs) should not
be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the Jast four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 —~213.7.)

Inchoate | [J Attempt 1 Solicitation {1 Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
Offenise 18901 A 18902 A 18 903 :
K |1 3921 (a) TITLE 18 1 F2
L Offense . . . NCIC Offense
ead? # Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data .-
i fapphcable) Acc:dent Number 1 Interstate 1 Safety Zone 1 Work Zone
Statute Description (mctude the name of statute or ordinance): THEFT BY UNLAWFUL TAKING

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did unlawfully takes, or exercises unlawful control over,
movable property (Cash, Currency) of another (Public Funds) with intent to'deprive him thereof as described in the attached affidavit and totaling $369,472.40.

ln0hoate D Attempt [:i Solicitation D Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 6Q or Older
Offense 18 901 A 18902 A 18603
1|2 3922 @1 | TITLE 18 1 F2
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Tifle) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
© PennDOT Dafa Accldent
(if applicable) 'Number {1 Interstate {1 Safety Zone {1 Work Zone
Statute Description (incfude the name of statute or ordinance): THEFT BY DECEPTION

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did intentionatly obtain or withold property(cash

currency) of another(Public funds) by deception by creating or reinforcing a false impression as to value and intention with public bank accounts as described
in the attached affidavit and totaling $369,472.40.

" Inchoate - | [] Attempt [7] Solicitation [} Conspiracy Number of Victims Age 60 or Older
-~ Offense 18 901 A 18902 A 18903
| 3 3922 (a)(2) TITLE 18 1 F2
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Tigle) Counts Grade NCIC Offenise Code UCR/NIBRS Cade
PennDOT Data ‘Accident '
(if applicable) Number [ Interstate 1 Safety Zone [ Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): THEFT BY DECEPTION

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did prevent another from acquiring information
regarding public funds which would affect their judgement of transactions with public bank accounts as described in the affidavit and totaling $369,472.40.

Bamm D ~F (M



48} POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
(€-305-23 | jo14123 1000310-3 PCS-21-0005-2

Defen danf Name First: Middte: Last:

SRR JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute alfegedly violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.
(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegedly
violated, without more, is not sufficlent. In a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s} and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. in addition, social security numbers and financial information

(e.g. PINs) should not be listed, if the 1dent|ty of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1-213.7)

(1 conspiracy

+Inchoate | O Attempt [J Solicitation
Offense 189071 A 18902 A 18 903
0 |4 3922 (M3 TITLE 18 1 F2 | |
Lead? ' Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
- PennDOT Data " Accident” )
(if applicable) ;;Numb'er__ . {7 interstate [ Safety Zane ] Wark Zone

Statute Description (mclude the name of statute or ordinance): THEFT BY DECEPTION

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense:

In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did fail to correct a false impression regarding
public funds which he knew to be influencing another to whom he stood in a fiduciary or confidential relationship in the amount of $369,472.40.

"] Conspiracy

- Inchoate | [] Attempt {1 Soticitation
. Offense 18901 A 18902 A 18 803
15 3927 (A) TITLE 18 1 F2
Lead? Offense#t Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offenise Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data 'f Accsdent
- (if applicable) - -~ Number- 71 interstate 1 Safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Descrlptlon (mclude the name of statute or ordinance): THEFT BY FAILURE TO MAKE REQUIRED DISPOSITION OF FUNDS

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Frad SUPLIZIO did obtain property (Public funds) subject to a
known legal obligation and dealt with the property as his own and mtentuonaﬂy failed to make the required payment or disposition in an amount of

$274,800.00.
Inchoate [ [ Attempt {1 Solicitation [J Conspiracy
_Offense . 18901 A 18 902 A 18 903
a6 5111 (A1) TITLE 18 - |1 F1
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data Accident .
(if applicable) Number - [ interstate [l Safety Zone 71 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance); DEALING IN PROCEEDS OF UNLAWFUL ACTIVITIES

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred Suplizio did conduct financial transactions with the knowledge
that the property involved represented the praceeds of unlawful activity and acted with intent to promote the carrying on of the unlawful activity.

AOPC 412A —Rev.09/12
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....... POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number
(K-32p5-2% | ]o]4l 23 f 0003703 PCS-21-0005-2
Defendant Natﬁe | st Middle: Last:
-~ . ]JOHN ' FRED SUPLIZIO

The acts committed by the accused are described helow with each Act of Assembly or statute a‘ﬂegedfy violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

(Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A cifation to the statute(s) allegedly
violated, without more, is not sufficient. In a summary case, you must cite the specific section(s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known, In addition, social security numbers and financial information
{e.g. PINs) should not be listed, If the identity of an account must be established, list only the {ast four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 - 213.7.}

~Inchoate | [ Attempt {71 Solicitation 1 Conspiracy
Offense 18901 A 18902 A . 18903
0|7 5111 ™R | TITLE 18 1 F1 ,
Lead?  Offense# Sectionv Subsection PA Statute (Title} Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
‘PennDOT Data * | ~ Accident
(if applicabl o) “Nimber O interstate [1 Safety Zone .1 Work Zone

Statute DeSC!‘IptIOI’! (:nclude the name of stafute or ordmance) DEALING IN PROCEEDS

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did conduct financial transactions with knowledge
that the property involved represented the proceeds of unlawful activity and that the transactions were designed in whote or in part to conceal or disguise
the nature, location, source, ownership or control of the proceeds of the unlawful activity.

Inchoate | [] Attempt [ Solicitation {7 Conspiracy
Offense. . 18901 A 18802 A Co 18 903
mE: 5111 (A)(3) TITLE 18 | 4 F1 |
Lead? Offense# "Secﬁon Subsection PA Statute (Title)  Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data . | Accident - .
(if applicable} Narber O ln;erstate 1 Safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Descrlptlon (!nclude the name of statute or ordinance): DEALING IN PROCEEDS

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did conduct financial transactions to av0|d
transaction reporting requirements under State or Federal law.

Inchoate | [ Attempt [] Soticitation {1 Conspiracy
Offense 78 901 A ’ 18 802 A 78 903
19 1103 A TITLE65 |2 F |
Lead?  Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code ~ UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data | Accident »
(if applicable) | Number - [ Interstate {] Safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): RESTRICTED ACTIVITIES

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred Suplizio, a public employee and pubfic official of the City of
Dubois in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, engaged in a course of conduct that constitutes a conflict of interest.

Aopc412A_Rev, 09/12 e i b e e s e i s e e e pageﬂ_ ij_p



vvvvvv POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaintlncident Number
(R -30523 |\ pI%]23 £ 10003 1p-3 PCS-21-0005-2
D’efén"dant Né;me | First: Middle: Last:
N ' JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

The acts committed by the accused are described below with each Act of Assembly or statute allegedly violated, if

appropriate. When there is more than one offense, each offense should be numbered chronologically.

{Set forth a brief summary of the facts sufficient to advise the defendant of the nature of the offense(s) charged. A citation to the statute(s) allegediy
violated, without more, Is not sufficient, In a summary case, you must cite the specific section{s) and subsection(s) of the statute(s) or ordinance(s)
allegedly violated. The age of the victim at the time of the offense may be included if known. In addition, soclal security numbers and financial information
{e.g. PiNs] shouid not be listed. If the identity of an account must be established, list only the last four digits. 204 PA.Code §§ 213.1 ~213.7.)

: ¥nchoate L1 Attempt [1 Solicitation [1 Conspiracy
Offense 18 9071 A 18902 A - 18803
O {10 [s101 | TITLE18 |1 M2
Lead? Offense# Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counis Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
"PennDOT Data .'5 - Accident
it appllcable) . Number - [ interstate {1 Safety Zone {1 Work Zone

Statute Descnptlon (mclude the name of statute or ordinance): OBSTRUCTION

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO did intentionally obstruct and impair the
administration of law by obstacle or breach of official duty in the incident at Sheetz described in the Affidavit.

“Inchoate | [J Attempt ] Solicitation [ Conspiracy

. Offénse - 18901 A 18902A 18 903

011t 4113 (A) TITLE 18 1 M2

Lead?  Offense# ‘:‘»ecllon Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCIC Offense Code UCR/NIBRS Code
" PennDOT Data - |- Accident :

(i applicable) ‘Nimber [ Interstate 1 Safety Zone [1 Work Zone

Hétatute Description (inctude the name of statute or ordinance): MISAPPLICATION OF ENTRUSTED PROPERTY

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense: In that the Defendant John Fred SUPLIZIO, a public employee and public official of the City of
Dubois in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, misapplied government property that was entrusted to him as a fiduciary.

. lnchoate .1 1 Attempt 7] Solicitation. [ Conspiracy
18901 A 18902 A" 18 903
0 12 | 7268 (A) TITLE72 |8 M
Lead?  Offenseft Section Subsection PA Statute (Title) Counts Grade NCiC Offense Cade UCR/NIBRS Code
PennDOT Data " Accident '
(it applicable) . ‘Number [ Interstate [ safety Zone 1 Work Zone

Statute Description (include the name of statute or ordinance): FRAUDULENT RETURNS

Acts of the accused associated with this Offense; In that the Defendant John Fred Suplizio did with intent to defraud the Commonwealth, did
willfully make, or caused to be made, returns required by this article, which were false.

o Page z of (ﬁ v
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4 pPOLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Dogket Number — DateFlled OTNIleeScan Number ) Complaint/Incident Number
ﬁ P- 30523 | 0 14125 & 1900303 PCS-21-0005-2

Def d N First: _ Middle: Last:

efen an ame: ] JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

2.1 ask that a warrant of arrest or a summons be issued and that the defendant be required o answer the charges | have
made.

3. 1 verify that the facts set forth in this complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge or information and
belief. This verification is made subject to the penalties of Section 4804 of the Crimes Code (18 Pa.C.S. § 4904) relating
to unsworn falsification to authorities.

4. This complaint consists of the preceding page(s) numbered 1 throth .

5. | certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Case Records Public Access Policy of the Unified Judicial
System of Pennsylvania that require filing confidential information and documents differently that non-confidential
information and documents.

The acts committed by the accused, as listed and hereafter, were against the peace and dignity of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania and were contrary to the Act(s) of the Assembly, or in violation of the statutes cited.
(Before a warrant of arrest can be issued, an affidavit of probable cause must be completed, sworn to before the

issuing authority, and attached.) JZ
Tre. é SN, g//;

(Date) (Signature of Affiant)
AND NOW. on this date [& 96 /;73 | certify that the complaint has been properly completed and verified.
7 v
An affidavit of probable cause must be completed before a warrant can be issued.
fi(=7-a¢ i )7/
(Magisterial District Court Number) (Issuing Autfority) © '
SEAL

Aty Py~

et o f



8% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filévc‘l“:‘ T - OTN‘ILiQeScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
(5’ - 345723 Jo 14123 & 1000 3703 PCS-21:0005-2
Defend th .- | First: Middle: Last:

elendant ame: | JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

AFFIDAVIT of PROBABLE CAUSE

" Your afﬁants,‘ Troopei‘ Eric Guido of the Pennsylvania State Police (PSP) and Special Agent Terrence R.
Sweeney of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General (OAG), being duly sworn to law, depose and say:
L AFFIANTS’ and INVESTIGATORS’ BACKGROUND

Your affiant, Trooper Guido, is a member of the Pennsylvania State Police and has been so employed since
2004 and is currently assigned to the Bureau of Criminal Inivestigation Organized Crime Unit. Trooper Guido’s
duties include but are not limited to undercover investigationé involving fheft, gambling, embezzlement, human
trafficking, prostitution, and white collar crime, within the northwestern region of Pennsylvania. Previously,
Trooper Guido spent 9 years in an undercover capacity conducting naréotics investigations in the central region of
Pennsylvania. Trooper Guido has received specialized training in Intellectual Property Theft, Illegal Video
Gambling, Financial Investigations, Money Laundering, Virtual Currency, Human Trafficking, Street Gangs,
Motorcycle Gangs, and Identifying Deceptive Behavior, from agencies including but not limited to the Pennsylvania
State Police, the National White _Colla;r Crime Center, and the Northeast Counterdrug Training Center.

Your affiant Special Agent Sweeney is employed by the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General, Bureau
of Criminal Investigation, and is empowered by law to conduct investigations and make arrests relating to public
corruption, white-collar crimes, theft, fraud, election code violations and other violations of Pennsylvania
Law. SA Sweeney has conducted numerous investigations involving financial crimes. SA Sweeney has been so
employed since November, 2020, and is cufrentiy assigﬁed to the Financial Crimes Section in Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania. -

SA Sweeney was previously employed by the Federal Bureau of Investigation for 24 years. During that
time, SA Sweeney investigated the criminal activity of Drug Trafficking Organizafions and New York City based
Italian Organized Crime Families. Based upon SA Sweeney’s law enforcement training and experience from
conducting large criminal enterprise investigations, SA Sweeney is familiar with the methods used by those
organizations and members to disguise and/or launder the proceeds from their criminal activity. SA Sweeney has
reviewed and analyzed voluminous bank and financial records associated with the targets of those investigations |
and has become knowledgeable of techniques used by them. SA Sweeney is aware that offenders committing
crimes in the Commonwealth relating to public corruption, white collar crimes, theft, and fraud, use those same
techniques. Based upon the foregoing training and experience, SA Sweeney has special expertise regarding the

practices of, and techniques used by, these offenders.




’@‘ POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Dgcket Number: Date Filed: * OTN/LiveScan Number - Complaint/Incident Number
ﬁﬁ—?o’)”?’i [0 4123 é [2003/0-3 PC8$-21-0005-2
D f dant N "} First: Middle: Last:

efen cant ame: | JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

In addition to your affiants, Trooper Jeffrey Walters of the Pennsylvania State Police and Detective

Kontaxes of the Fayette County Bureau of Investigation were full participants in this investigation.

During his twenty five years with the PSP, Trooper Walters was involved with investigations into the

activities of individuals and groups involved in criminal entérprises, including organized thefts, public corruption,
embezzlement, rapes, assaults, narcotics distribution, conspiracy, theft, homicide, political corruption, official

oppression, orgahized crime, human trafficking, and burglary

Detective Kontaxes is employed as a County Detective with the Fayette County District Attorney’s Office
Bureau of Investigation, and is Captain of the Perryopolis Police Department in Fayette County,.Pennsylvarﬁa.
Detective KONTAXES has over 27 years of law enforcement experience concurrent with over 36 years of
experience in accounting and financial management in private practice, and in the government sector as a
Corporate Controller / Treasurer for Department of Defense and Department of Energy funded contracts

(aggregate $3.00 billion annual),

Detective KONTAXES has a Bachelor’s degree in business finance from California University of

Pennsylvania, combined with a combination of spebialized Master’s Program accounting, taxation, and law
courses from Robert Morris University. Detective KONTAXES is a graduate of the Pennsylvania Municipal

Police Academy and is PA Act 120 certified as a police officer in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

Additionally, Detective KONTAXES is a Certified Financial Crimes Investigator as certified by the
International Association of Financial Crimes Invest1gators Detective KONTAXES has attended more than sixty
(60) trajning seminars and classes conducted by colleges and universities, prwate training corporations, the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, the Pennsylvania State Police and other law enforcement agencies on various aspects of -

accounting, law, financial investigations, investigations of ‘comp_uter crimes, interview techniques, narcotic .

investigation and tactical interdiction.

Detective KONTAXES has been involved in numerous complex financial and cyber-crime investigations
involving organized crime, narcotics, embezzlements, white-collar crime, credit card fraud, computer crime, and
thefts. Based upon his training and experience, Detective KONTAXES has developed an expertise in the area of
complex financial and cyber-criminal investigations. Detective KONTAXES is a member of the International

‘Association of Financial Crimes Investigators, the National White Collar Crime Network, and participates with

e A S SN e A A AT P A g T TRy T P e A Ve e ST T L AR e Al €T £ T S e LT A ST, b ST e s T\ Y S 8 T £ S T e
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4% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Docket Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number
(Rl-3052Z | (04123 ) 1000 3/0-3 PCS-21-0005-2

‘va'-‘f' d SN ... Firstt Middle: Last:

PelendamtTame: . JJOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

- other national financial crime law enforcement networks involved with data collection, reporting, and providing
technical expertise related to money laundering, racketeering, and other federal financial crimes. During the

course of his law enforcement career, Detective KONTAXES has been the affiant on and has participated in

numerous federal and state search warrants and criminal complaints.

During the course of this investigation, witnesses have provided information that will be contained in this

affidavit. Your affiants have specifically ascertained these witnesses’ identities. Your affiants have verified the
witness identities through positive proof of identification. These witnesses have indicated below that they have
personal knowledge regarding the criminal incidents that transpired or information that they have relayed and

provided to law enforcement officers and your affiants as more fully detailed below. These witnesses will be

~available for any further court proceedings.

All of the information contained in this affidavit was learned directly by your affiants or related to your affiants

by other agents, police officers or investigators involved in this investigation.
II. INTRODUCTION

The 48" Statewide Investigating Grand Jury conducted an investigation into the misappropriation of funds
from a Clearfield County non-proﬁt. agency that ultimately led to the discovery Qf fraﬁduler'fc activity in c'onne'ction. :
Wifh bank accounts held by the City of DuBois. It was determined that beginning in 2014, J ohn F. “Herm” Suplizio,
who was the Executive Director of the DuBois Area United Way (DAUW), but who separately served és the City
Manager for the City of DuBois, stole bhundreds of thousands of do}lars from these public accounts over which he
had signatory authority. He also provided false information on his pefsonal income tax returns for several years,
claiming that he incurred unreimbursed expenses in connection with his work for the DAUW and the City of DuBois,

in order to receive a greater refund from the government.

o 2 A S v 1 e T e TR e A M A e MR N manrat LT e,
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% POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

D ert Number: Date Filed: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/Incident Number
(R=305235 | Jos#235 | 4 10003,p-3 PCS.21-0005-2

“Def lll'id‘a'ntl'&v: | First: Middle: Last: '

Joendam ams, | 30HN FRED - SUPLLZIO

The evidentiary results of this investigation were presented to the Grand Jury resulting in the attached Grand

Jury Presentment Number 16 (Attachment A).

III.  Updates To Presentment Number 16

Suplizio’s JP Morgan Chase Visa Account

During the course of the investigation, Suplizio was found to have a personal Visa credit card with JP Morgan
Chase. SA Sweeney analyzed all expenditures made on Suplizio’s personal credit card from June, 2014, through
February, 2022. During that time period, a total of $704,885.21 in purchases were made, which is an increase of
$27,764.70 over the $677,120.51 calculated in the attached Preseﬁmlent. The $27,764.70 additional charges were

discovered during additional detailed document review.

SA Sweeney’s analysis included designating each charge as being a “Personal” or “Public” purchase. There
were charges on Suplizio’s credit card that were clearly personal such as vacation expenses, utility expenses for his
residence, department store purchases, and jewelry store purchases.‘ There were charges on Suplizio’s credit card
‘that were clearly public such as fireworks, inflatable bounce houses, payments to the media, and large screen printing
purchases. There were also charges on Suplizio’s credit card that could have been designated as either a personal
purchase or a purchase for the public. Suplizio’s use of numerous visa charges as tax deductions on his personal

income tax returns caused those charges to be designated “Personal” for the attached Presentment calculation.

An updated total amount of expenditures on his credit card designated as “Personal” during the time period
was approximately $256,138.33. This significant reduction in personal expenditures from the $499,052.36 amount

that was calculated in the Presentment was due to the change in designation of many of those charges used as fax

= = A T g T YTt —- e — e
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& POLICE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

Dogcket Number: Date Fiied: OTN/LiveScan Number Complaint/incident Number
(720523 | /219123 b 10003703 PCS-21-0005-2

:D f dant Na N .| First: Middle: Last:

[Defendant Name: 1 30HN FRED SUPLIZIO

deductions. on his persénal income tax returns. Those desigﬁations changed during additioﬁal detailed document
review of all charges made wifh Suplizio’s Visa credit card because they were clearly “Public” expenditures or could
have possibly been “Public” expenditures. Therefore, the designaﬁon change of those charges for clearly public
expenditures or possible public expenditures used as personal tax deductions significantly reduced the total aniount

designated as personal purchases.

Of the $256,138.33 charges that were designated “Personal”, Suplizio paid $198,551.51 from his personal
accounts. The remaining $57,586.82 in “Personal” bcharges were paid from the following public accounts: the
DAUW Checking Account, the DVFD Parade Committee Account, the DVFD Community Days CD Account, and

the DVFD Community Fund Checking Account.

DAUW Checking Account

During the course of the investigaﬁon, SA Sweeney obtained and reviewed records for six accounts
associated with the DAUW. Of those accounts, he found fraudulent transactions linked to one account: the
DAUW checking account at S&T Bank on which Suplizio was a signatory.

From 2014 — 2021, Suplizio received reimbursement payments from the DAUW for his mileage and
personal cellular cell phone in the amount of $2,580 per yéar for a total of $20,640 in reimburseﬁlents.

The Grand Jury learned that for the years 2014-2017, Suplizio submitted the total amounts received from
the DAUW and the City for mileage and personal cellular telephone reimbursements as “unreimbursed” businéss
expenses on his Federal taxes and same for the years 2014-2021 on his State taxes, essentially triple-dipping for
those expenditures. |

It was determined that between October, 2015 and January, 2020, Suplizio paid his personal Visa credit

card bill with eight checks written on the DAUW account totaling $10,252.72. The checks were written to Visa
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Defendant Name: ) jopy FRED SUPLIZIO

and DAUW auditors advised that there shouki never have been any payments to a personal credit card. Of the |
eigh’é checks written on the DAUW account, all seemed to have paid foi‘ DAUW charges made by Suplizio and/or
were used as tax deductions on his personal taxes except for the $193.45 check on 03/03/2016 for which there
could be no charge found for that amount made by Suplizio. That $193.45 amount paid for personal charges from
this account is included in the JP Morgan Chase Visa Account Update.

On January 3, 2014, a cash transfer of $2,940.58 was made from this DAUW Checking Account to-
Suplizio’s personal savings account that was not associated with any reimbursement request. The receipt for this
transaction was seized during the search of Suplizio’s residence.

On April 30, 2015, a check from this DAUW Checking Account for $3,900 was made payable to “cash”
and cashed by Suplizio. This $3,900 was alleged to have been payment to the Pittsburgh Steelers who played in a
DAUW benefit basketbaﬂ game. Investigators became aware of an agreement between the DAUW and the
Steelers basketball players showing the sharing of ticket sales, with the Steelers getting $4.20 per ticket sold with a
' minimum $3,900 payment, and the DAUW getting $2.80 per ticket sold. However, no cash deposit corresponding
to Steeler Benefit ticket sales was made into any of the known DAUW accounts.

On March 30, 2018, a check from this DAUW Checking Account for $4,200 was made payable to Suplizio
and cashed by Suplizio. This $4,200 was alleged to have béen payment to the Pittsburgh‘ Steeiers who played in a
DAUW benefit basketball game. Investigators again became aware of a simil& agreement betwéen the DAUW
and the Steelers basketball players with the Steelers getting a minimum $4,200 payment. No cash deposit
corresponding to Steelers Benefit ticket sales was made into any of the known DAUW accounts. |

Therefore, the theft from this account was $11,040.58 aﬁd the tax fraud involving this account was

$20,640.00.
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Parade Committee Account

The review of Suplizio’s personal Visa credit card account showed Suplizio had written 15 checks to Visa
from the Parade Committee account between April, 2014 and June, 2019 totaling $131 ,003. 17. As stated in the JP
Morgan Chaée Visa Account Update, a significant number of Visa charges made by Suplizio that wére originally
designated as “Personal” charges due to Suplizio’s use of those charges as personal tax deductions, were |
subsequently designated as “Public” charges. Therefore, there is a significant reduction in “Personal” charges paid
for from this Pélrade Committee Ac-coAunt and that amount is included in the $57,586.82 identiﬁed in the JP Morgan
~ Chase Visa Account Updaté.

Investigators identified 8 of the 15 c,heoks to Visa from the Parade Committee account totaling $65,171.18
were payments to Visa for “Public” charges used as deductions in his personal tax filings.

The theft from this account was $25,000.00 and the tax fraud involving this account was $65,171.18.

DVFD Community Days CD Account (Updated)

The review of Suplizio’s personal Visa credit card account showed Suplizio had obtained 5 Cashier’s
Checks between July, 2015 and May, 2018 totaling $47,149.56 with funds from this CD account to pay his
personal Visa; bills. As stated in the J? Morgan Chase Visa Account Update, a significant number of Visa charges
made by Suplizio that were originally designated as “Personal” charges due to Suplizio’s use of those charges as
personal tax deductions, were subsequently designated as “Public” charges. Therefore, there is a significant
reduction in “Personal” charges paid for from this CD Account.and that amount is included in the $57,586.82

identified in the JP Morgan Chase Visa Account Update.
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Investigators identified 4 of the 5 Cashier’s_Checks obtained with funds from this CD account to Visa
totaling $29,612.07 were payments to Visa for “Public” charges used as deductions in his 2014-2017 personal tax
filings.

The Grand Jury learned that Suplizio made numerous cash withdrawals from this CD account for which the
disposition of that cash COIJ.ICI not be determined by investigators, Six such cash Withdrawals totaling $163,400 are
listed in a Table on Page 21 of the Presentment. The June 14,2012 and Apni 26,2013 cash wﬂhdrawals of
$35,000.00 were unable to be verified by investigators because the bank records only went back to the middle of
2014. The cash from the June 10, 2015 cash withdrawal of $50,000.00 was dep051ted into the S&T Bank Parade
Committee Account. Therefere, the amount of cash withdrawals with unknown disposition listed on the Page 21
Table was reduced from $163,400.00 to $43,400.00.

Two $5,000.00 Cashier’s Checks were obtained with funds from this CD account on March 27, 2014 and
made payable to a Suplizio family member. Since it appeared that those two $5,000.00 Cashier’s Checks were
deposited back into this CD account, it has been determined that those two $5,0000.00 Cashier’s Checks will not ‘,
be considered fraudulent activity associated with this CD account.

The theft from this account was $174,485.00 and the tax fraud involving this account was $30,397.07.

DVFED Community Days Checking Account {Updated)

The review of Suplizio’s personal Visa credit card account showed Suplizio had written 88 checks to Visa
from the DVFD Community Days Checking account between March, 2014 and February, 2022 totaling
$290,163.56. As stated in the JP Morgan Chase Visa Account Update, a significant number of Visa charges made

by Suphzlo that were ongmally de81gnated as “Personal” charges due to Suphzlo s use of those charges as
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personal tax deductions, were subsequently designated as “Public” chargés. Therefore, there is a significant
reduction in “Persoﬁal” charges paid for from this DVFD Community Days checking account and that amount is
included in the $57,586.82 identified in the JP Morgan Chase Visa Account Update.

Investigators identified 19 of the 88 checks to Visa from the DVFD Community Days Checking account
totaling $39,074.75 were payments to Visa for “Public” charges used as deductions in his personal tax filings.

The theft from this account was $98,360.00 and the tax fraud involving this account was $‘39,074.75.

Community Fund Cash Delivery to Dubois Police Chief and Interim City Manager

On March 28, 2023, Dubois Solicitor Toni Cherry left a voicemail for DAUW Solicitor CJ Zwick saying she
- ordered the money from the DAUW safe be brought to her because it was Connﬁunity Fund maney and not United

~ Way money.

Investigators subsequently became aware that in September, 2022, DAUW employees had discovered a large
amount of cash in a green zippered bag in a safe at the DAUW building. Those DAUW err_iployees did not count
the cash and left it in the safe. In December, 2022, one of those same DAUW employees accessed the safe at the

DAUW building and noticed that cash in the green zippered bag was no longer in the safe.

In March, 2023, while cleaning and removing exposed televiéion cables at the DAUW building, that same
DAUW employee discovered 3 metal Iock boxes fastened to the walls above the ceiling of the DAUW offices. On
March 21, 2023, while cléaning for an upcoming DAUW Board Meeting, that sarﬁe DAUW employee noticed
ceiling tile debris on the floor of the DAUW offices, thus indicating the ceiling had been accessed. That DAUW
employee then ?.ccessed the ceiling and discovered a 4™ metal lock box fastened to the wall above the ceiling. Four

keys corresponding to those 4 metal lock boxes were found in Suplizio’s desk at the DAUW building.
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On May 2, 2023, Dubois Solicitor Toni Cherry delivered $93,920 cash in a gift bag to the City of Dubois
Police Chief Blaine Clark and Interim City Manager Chris Nasuti while they were in a meeting with Sandy Township
officials at Dubois City Hall. Cherry told Nasuti she brought the cash to him for safe keeping and it was money
from the Community Fund that had been at the DAUW Building. Nasuti and Clark took the money to S&T Bank

where Nasuti opened a new account under the City of Dubois and deposited the $93,920 cash.

On May 13, 2023, Solicitor Cherry attended an executive session of the Dubois Council that was called to
discuss that $93,920 cash she had delivered to Nasuti and Clark. Cherry told Council it was Community Fund money
that was brought to her by Suplizio and she had kept it for 6 weeks since March to keep the PA OAG from

confiscating it.

Oﬁ June 22, 2023, investigators interviewed Solicitor Cherry at her office and Cherry confirmed that Suﬁlizio
had brought her the cash she had delivered to Nasuti and Clark and told investigators it was Community Fund monéy.
Although Cherry informed the Dubois Council at the May 13,‘ 202‘3 executive session Suplizio had brought her the
$93,920 cash six weeks earliér in March, 2023, Cherry told investigators she céuld not recall when Suplizio had

- brought her that cash.
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Theft From Public Accounts: |

Theft via JP Morgan Chase Visa = $57,586.82

City of DuBois General Fund Account = $3,000.00
DAUW Checking Account = $11,040.58

DuBois VFD Parade Committee Account = $25,600.00
DVFD Flex CD Community Fund Account = $174,485.00
DVFD Checking Community Fund Account = $98,360.00

Total Theft = $369,472.40
Tax Fraud associated with Public Accounts:

City of DuBois General Fund Account = $26,077.56
DAUW Checking Account = $20,040.00

DuBois VFD Parade Committee Account = $65,171.18
DVED Flex CD Community Fund Account = $30,397.07
DVFED Checking Community Fund Account = §39,074.75

Total Tax Fraud = $181,360.56
Total Fraudulent Transactions associated with Public Accounts:

Via JP Morgan Chase Visa = $57,586.82

City of DuBois General Fund Account = $29,077.56
DAUW Checking Account = $31,680.58

DuBois VED Parade Committee Account = $90,171.18
DVFED Flex CD Community Fund Account = $204,882.07
.DVFD Checking Community Fund Account = $137,434.75

Total Fraudulent Transactions = $550,832.96
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CONCLUSION

Based on the facts contained herein, and a combination of your affiants’ training, education and experience,
and knowledge of this investigation, your affiants believe there is Probable Cause to charge John F. “Herm” Suplizio
with the following offenses:

Theft by Unlawful _Taking, 3921(a) — Felony 2, 1 Count

Theft by Deception 3922 (a)(i ), Felony 2, 1Count §

Theft by Deception 3922 (a)(2), Felony 2, 1 Count

_ Theft by Deception 3922 (a)(3), Felony 2, 1 Coll;nt

Theft by Failure to Make Required Disposition of Funds 3927 (), Felony 2, 1 Count
Dealing in Proceeds 5111(a)(1), Felony 1, 1 Count

Dealing in Proceeds 5111(a)(2), Felony 1, 1 Cbunt

Dealing in Proceeds 5111(a)(3), Felony 1, 4 Counts (1 for each qf structured transactions)
Conflict of Interest 65 PSA 1103(3), Felony, 2 Counts

Obstruc‘ltion 5101, Misdemeanor 2 (Sheetz Incident)

Misapplication of Entrusted Property, MisdemeanorlZ, 18Pa.CS.A. § 41 13(a) ~ 1 Count |

Fraudulent Return, Misdemeanor, 72 P.S. § 7268(a) — 8 Counts
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Defendait N - | First: { Midale: Last:

Defendant b -“‘_’?‘e_ - | JOHN FRED SUPLIZIO

I, , BEING DULY SWORN ACCORDING TO THE LAW, DEPOSE AND SAY THAT THE FACTS SET FORTHA IN THE
FOREGOING AFFIDAVIT ARE TRUE AND CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE, INFORMATION AND
BELIEF.

| CERTIFY THAT THIS FILING COMPLIES WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE CASE RECORDS PUBLIC ACCESS

POLICY OF THE UNIFIED JUDICIAL SYSTEM OF PENNSYLVANIA THAT REQUIRE FILING CONFIDENTIAL
INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS DIFFERENTLY THAT NON-CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND DOCUMENTS.

. / ‘// SR N__¥ %-/5

 (Signature of Affiant)

P % Date

My commission expires first Monday of January, /
' SEAL

Wagisterial District Judge
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INTRODUCTION

We, the members of the Forty-Eighth Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, having received
and reviewed evidence pertaining to suspected violations of Pennsylvania Crimes Code in and
around Clearfield County pursvant to Notice of Submission'of Investigation Number 13, do hereby
make the following findings of fact and recommendation of charges.

FINDING OF FACTS

* The Grand Jury conducted an investigation into the misappropriation of funds from a .
Clearfield County non-profit agency that ultimately led to the discovery of fraudulent activity in
connection with bank accounts held by the City of DuBois. It was deterinined that beginning in
2014, John F, “Herm” Suplizio, who was the Executive Director of the DuBois Area United Way
(DAUW), but who separately served as the City Manager for the City of DuBois, stole hundreds
of thousands of dollars from these public accounts over which he had signatory authority. He also
provided false information on his personal income tax retums.f0r several years, claiming that he
incurred unreimbursed expenses in connection with his work for thé DAUW and the City of

DuBois, in order to receive a greater refund from the government.

Background of Investigation

Trooper Walters of the Pennsylvania State Police (PSP) appeared before the Grand Jury
and testified that the City of DuBois is a third-class city, meaning that it is one of two cities in the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania that have adopted the optional “council-manager plan” This
form of government is led by elected council members who then appoint a City Manager to run
the day-to-day business of the city. The City Manager oversees everything except for the
operations of the fire department. The City Managet has confrol over the police de‘partment;‘

notébly, the City Manager appoints the Chief of Police and then he/she reports directly to the City




Manager. The Mayor also reports to the City Manager. Suplizio has been the City Manager since
2016. When he became City Manager, he was given a substantial pay increase (approximately
$23,000 per year more than his predecessor received) and his yearly salary exceeded $80,000. He
also received substantial bonuses at the end of each year from City Council and the Mayor, In
contrast to the City Manager, City Council members and the Mayor are not compensafed for their
service, The Grand Jury learned that Suplizio also received a sizable additional salary of §3 ﬂ,OﬁO
in his separate capacity as Executive Director of the DAUW.

The Grand Jury heard testimony that on March 13, 2020, an anonymous letter was sent to
PSP advising that although DAUW has 25 non-profit groups that are to receive a portion of vth‘e
money that is donated, Suplizio was directing the donations to a non-member and a non-profit
entity: The City of DuBois. The writer enclosed tax form 990's for the United Way for years
20‘13~2017; a one-pagé spreadsheet listing the DAUW beneficiaries for the yeats 2013-2017; the
monetary amounts provided to each entity; and, the totals for the funds 1isteci in the Schedule T
form (funds distributed by the DAUW) and the 990 Part IX form (reports of funds distributed by
the DAUW that was prepared by the IRS). The letter was signed "Anonymously Yours, Concerned
Citizens,” Trooper Jeffery Walters testified thaf he ultimately confirmed the idéntity of the writer
of the anonymous letter and was able to corroborate the information contained in the letter through
witness interviews and a review of financial records. |

Trooper Waitefs contacted Suplizio and a meeting was arranged to take place at the DAUW
building at 223 S. Jared Street on April 9, 2022, Several DAUW board members were als§ in
attendance. Trooper Waltcrs was informed that the organization was auditedlannuaily and that
donors specifically earmarked donations for the numerous City of DuBois athletic field projects.

Trooper Walters confirmed with state and national United Way officers that a local United Way -




Chaptei" may allocate funds to a municipality as long as the original dono-r designates his/her
specific donation to be used for a particular project within the community.

| Although the funds earmarked for City of DuBois projects were pérmissible if the donor
so designated, this initial meeting led to subsequent inveétigation into the DAUW’s finances and
tax returns where Suplizio’s fraudulent activity was ultimately discovered.

Structure and Finances of the DVED

Robert Bojalad- curvent DVFD Treasurer

In addition to serving as the DuBois City Manager and the Executive Director of the
DAUW, Suplizio was also affiliated with the DuBois Volunteer Fire Department"(DVFD). The
Grand Jﬁry Jearned that the DVED is funded by the City of DuBois and, over the course of several
years, Suplizio withdréw large sums of caéh from the DVED bank accounts. Because these are
municipal bank accounts, they should have been monitored by City ofﬁci-ais. The lack of oversight
allowed Supﬁzio to carry out his theft scheme undetected. |

Thg Grand Jury received testimony from Robert Bojalad, Bojalad has been a volunteer
firefighter for the DVFD since July 1992 and currently works for the Priendship Fire Company.
Bojalad has been the Treasurer of the DVFD since 2011 or 2012, - A |

Thete ate five companies that make up the DVFD: the Volunteer Hose Company, No, 1;
fhe Friendship Hose Company, No. 2; the J.E. DuBois Hose Company, No‘. 3; the Fourth Ward
- Company Hose, No. 4; and, No. 5 Hose Company, Bojalad testified that the Fire Chiefs of the
five companies were responsible for putting together the proposed budget each year and that the
 majority of funds came from the City of DuBois. When the DVFD received the allotted budget

amount from the City, the money was divided and distributed to the fire companies.




Bojalad told the Grand Jury that all DVFD expenses are paid by check for record-keeping
purposes and that the checks must be signed by two signatories. Bojalad testified that prior to
issuing and signing a check, he must review the invoice and it must be approved at the monthly
meeting of the board of directors. Bojalad testified that the Treasurer creates an invoice in
connection with any expenses and that the Financial Secretary records each transaction at the
meefing,

Bojalad testified that, in addition to his other positions, Suplizio is cmrrently the Captain of
the Friendship Fire Department, which means that he is the supervisor of the fire hall. All financial
transactions are approved by the company’s board of directors, of which the Captain is not a
member. The Grand Jury learned that two self-audits are performed each year for the Friendship
Fire Company. Bojalad testified that the company has a general fund checking accomﬁ, which is
whete the allotment from the City and funds distributed by the DVFD are to be deposited. The
company also provides a snack stand for firefighters to purchase items while at the station and the
trustees involved with stocking the snack stand have theiy own checking account, which is referred
to as the “kitchen account,” The Friendship Fire Company also makes donations to the DAUW.

Bojalad testified that while the DVFD has made donations to the Community Days' event
in the past, the DVFD has no oversight or control over the DVFD-Community Days bank acc‘ounts.
The DVFD-Community Days and Parade Committee accounts are not affiliated with the DVFD.
Additionally, the DVFD does notreceive any of the proceeds from the event. He explained that
each individual fire company may choose to set up a booth to raise mbney for their own company.
While the DVED assists with aspects of the actual event, the planning and budgeting are déne by

a separate committee that is not affiliated with the DVFD.

 The Grand Jury fearned that Community Days occurs over a weekend in June. The event is free to the public and
includes a parade, entertainment and fireworks.

4




The Grand J ury learned that Community Days is funded by local businesses, the City of
DuBois and donations from members of the community, There are four bank accounts associated
with Community Days funds: Dnﬁois VED Parade Committee Account, DuBois' VFD Flex CD
Community Fund, DuBois VFD Money Matket Comm. Fund and DuBois VFD Checking
Community Fund. Community Days is not a separate non-profit entity and all bank accounts
ntilize the tax identification number for vth’e City of DuBois and should be subject to oversight by
City officials. |
Jatlnes Corby- Former DVFD Ch lef
The Gran& Jury also received testimony from James Corby, Corby has been a DuBois
volunteer firefighter for 33 % years and presenﬂy waorks at the J.E, DuBois Hose Company No, 3.
He is presently a tfustee at the company, a delegate to the DVFD, and a delegate to the board of
directors for the DVFD Relief Association. He previously served as the elected Chief of the
DVED. | In that capacity, Corby answered to the Mayor and City Council anci his duties were to
oversee the fire groundé, t.faining», daily operations, and the budéet. |
| Corby testified that the DVFD’s board of directors is comprised of 25 members and one
alternate member from the five DuBois fire companies and is responsible for administering grant
moneﬁf for equipment and death benefits.
Corby testified that when he was the DVFD Chief, there would be an annuval meeting with
the Mayor to establish a proposed budget. All expenditures were preéapproved by the board at a
rxieeting. After the approval was granted, the expenditure was made and then it would be reviewed
again at a meeting and a cﬁeck would be issued af that time.
Corby noted that there wetre occasions when an individual firefighter wanted to submit a

reimbursement request to the DVFD. In order to veceive a reimbursement, the firefighter was




required to pay the bill from his or her personal account and produce receipts which were required
to be re\;iewed and approved at the meeting. The DVFD board would then approve the
reimbursement. When the reimbursement was approved, the payment would come from ‘the line
item in the bVFD budget and the check would be issued by the Finance Ditector. Corby testified
that if a firefighter \;VIIG sought reimbursement also held a position on the board of directors, he/she ‘
would not vote on whether the reimbursement should be approved.

Corby testified that he was previously a membes of the Parade Committee several years
ago. The Parade Committee 13 associated with the independent acéounts that fund Community
Days and not the DVFD. To Corby’s knowledge, all the funds relafed to Community Days went
through the Parade Committee account. The appropriate approval process for ény expendi';ure to
be paid by the Parade Committee was to be discussed at a monthly meeting. Whoever was sitting
on the Committee that evening would 1;eview and approve all expenses. |

JH Suplizio Battalion One Fire Equipment

Detective Steven Kontaxes

Detective Steven Kontaxes (Detective Kontaxes) of the Fayette County Bureau of
Iﬁvestigation is also the Captain of the Perryopolis Pph’ce Department and a corporate officer with
Bechtel Corporation where he is responsible for finance and accounting, Kontaxes ﬁas previously
 conducted investigations into the finances of fire depamﬁents.

Detective Kontaxes learned during his investigation that JH Suplizio Battalion One Fire
Equipment is owned by Suplizio and was founded in 2011, ‘It is a sole proprietorship and the
address of the business is Suplizio’s home address: 710 Munroe Street, DuBois. Battalion One
sells fire equipment to local fire departments, most of which are located within the City of DuBois.

The Grand Jury learned that the majority of the customer orders were placed with Honeywell




Company. Detective Kontaxes noted that the following entities associated with the City of DuBois
purchased equipment from Battalion One: DVFD Relief Association, Fﬁendship Hose Company,
and, J.E. DuBois Hose Company.

Detective Kontaxes stated that there is nothing preventing any of the DVFD fixe companies
from purchasing this equipment directly from Honeywell themselves. He noted, however, that
there appeared to be a markup of about 50% of what the purcl_lase price would have been if they
had purchased directly from the manufacturer.

Detective Kontaxes testified that the Volunteer Firémen's Relief Association affiliated with
the DVFD must be set up E.IS a separate legal entity from the DVFD. The Relief Association then
can obtain grant money from the state and that money is usedAfor the pucpose of ‘assisting the
volunteer fire department. It could be vsed to purchase equipment, or it could be used to help
families if a firefighter dies in the performance of his/her duties. It is an added funding source that
must be separately managed and maintained. The Grand Jury learned that since the Relief
Association is funded by grants, there are specific rules about how the money can be spent and
those rules wete set forth in a document authored by the state Auditér General's Office.

Detective Kontaxes testified that there were six transactions between B‘attaiion One and
local Relief Associations, two of which involved the DVFD Relief Association for $2,780.09 on
March 9, 2017 and for $9,996.15 on August 18, 2021, Detective Kontaxes explained that the
guidelines would likely prevent transactions like these becéusc the Relief Association ofﬁcers are
supposed to make sure there are proper internal controls té help protect Relief Associatioh assets
from fraud, waste, abuse, and possible misappropriation of funds, The aﬁpropriate way to
accomplish suchla transaction would be through the institution of some type of a bidding process.

Detective Kontaxes indicated that the fact that the DVFD Relief Association paid a large mark-up




for goods they could have ordered directly from the manufacturer did not appear to be consistent
with the guidelines.

City of DuBuois Structure and Financial Approvals

Lisa LaBrasca Becker- former City Controller and current Treasuver of the City of DuBois
Tﬁe Grand Jury recetved testimoﬁy from Lisa LaBrasca Becker. leBrasca Becker was
elected as Treasurer for the City of DuBois in 2018. She had previously held the position of City
Controller since 2012. LaBrasca Becker’s duties as Controller wese to match all City receipts to
| the corresponding checks and review the bills submitted to her for all city-related expenses. Tﬁe
packets of checks were sent to her froni Delean Shepard, the Finance Officer. The checks and
receipts would be thoroughly reviewed and then stamped. The Grand Jury leaﬁed that the
Controller does not have an office and is simply contacted by telephonf; or text message when bills
are ready to be reviewed. The Controller is paid $100 per ménth.

All expenditures for the City are required to be revk;wed and approved by City Council.
Council receives a packet of information regarding all expenditures at work session on Thursday
afternoons and has three to four days to review the information prior to a public meeting where
those items are to be approved or denied. The packet generally includes a list of all of the bills, a
description of the amount and underlying details, and any supporting documentation.

Once the paperwork is revieWed, one of the City Council memﬁers will make a motion to
approve (or deny) ~thf: expenditures in the packet. Packets of approved expenditures are then sent

“to Finance Director to print the checks, Next, the checks are sent to the Controller for final review
and then the Treasurer signs the checks,

As Treasurer, LaBrasca Becket’s job is to make s_ixre the City’s accounts are balanced each

day. She and her employees collect any. money paid to the City and make sure the funds are




deposited into the appropriate bank accounts. LaBrasca Becker testified that all money paid to the
City is initially deposited into the General Fund and then sent to the appropriate account. She
© stated that Deputy Treasuier Tom Nowak generates a monthly repott that reflects the current
balances for each of the City’s bank accounts and that all money ﬂowing in and from the accounts
should be noted therein. This report is provided to City Council membes for their review and ‘is
genérated using transaction data. The City acéounts are audited every year, but she noted that if
there were any bank accounts nolt included in the monthly report, the auditors would not know
about such accounts, |

During her time as Confroller and Treasuret, LaBrasca Becker testified that she should
hiave seen any and all payments to the City; however, she did not recall any payments in connection
with the sale of water to fracking companies. As will be discussed in more detail below, one
pai’ticular fracking company reached an agreement with Suplizio with réspect to payment for use
of city water.

LaBrasca Becker stated that she was avs}are that the City had a contract with Advanced
Disposal Systems (ADS) for waste removal, but was unaware of any administrative payments from
ADS to the City. LaBrasca Becker indicated that if such payments existed she should have been
made aware of them, that they should have béen dej:)osﬁed into the General Fund, and that the
payments should have been noted on the Treasurer’s monthly report.

Another one of LaB;'asca Becker’s duties as Treasurer was signing payroll checks. She
stated that she deferred to City Council or Sﬂpérvisor of the various City Divisions to determine if
payrofl amounts were correct because she did not know what hours people worked otr the

patticulars of the City’s employment contracts.




With respect to Community Days, LaBrasca Becker testified that the City provided money
for the event. She confirtmed her signature on the following three checks issued to Community
Days accounts: $15,000 on June 28, 2018; $20,000 on June 14, 2019; and, $10,000 on June 25,
.2021. She noted that, despite these payments being issued from the City, she had no knowledge
:or oversight of the Community Days bank accounts and that these accounts were not included in
the Treasurer’s report or within the City’s system. She noted that Community Days is run by a
committee and that Suplizio was involved in the management of Community Days.

Delean Shepherd- Finance Officer of the City of DuBois |

The Grand Jury received testimony from DeLean Shepherd. Shepard is currently employed
full time by the City of DuBois as the Finance Officer and has held this position for almost 18
years. As Finance Officer, Shepherd is respoﬁsible for the oversight of payroll, beﬁeﬁts and
pension, She also pays all invoices and drafts the City’s budget, Suplizib is her supervisor,

Shepherd testified that the Controller and Treasurer, who are both elected officials, are
signatories on ali City accounts, atong with the Deputy Treasurer. Ifthey are unavailable, the City
Manager can sign. As Finance Officer, Shepherd stated that she does not have signatory authority
or access to any of the Cityvbavnk accounts.

With respect to the monthly report cmatéd by Deputy Treasurer Nowak, Shepard testified
that this repott should also be used to compare with the budget set at the beginning of the year;
however, 1o one ever reconciled tﬁem. ’ |

The Deputy Treasurer reconciles the checking accounts and Shepherd, the Finance Officer,
uses ﬁer computerized finances to ensure that all the accounts balance. Shepard testified that she
is aware of several bank accounts associated with the Community Days events, but she noted that

the City did not review these accounts and they are not included in the computerized financial
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system. She noted several donations from the City’s General Fund to the Community Days-‘l')ank
accounts,

Shepherd also prov';ded information regarding a contract between ADS and the City which
was supposed to result in the City being paid an administrative fee per quaster to handle billing for
the company’s waste removal. Despite the City not setting up this billing until approximately two
years ago, the administrative fees were still being paid every quarter. Those payments to the City,
if legitimate, should have been deposited into the General Fund; however, the payménts were
deposited into the Community Days bank accounts as donations to that event. Special Agent
Tettence Sweeney (SA Sweeney) of the Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General informed the
Grand Jury that financial records reflected quarterly administrative payments from ADS o the
City dating back to January 2014 despite the fact that the City was not engaged in any type of
billing activity to justify those paymenfs, In reality, this arrangement for “billing” was simply a
way for Suplizio to receive “kick-backs,”

Shepard testified that she is aware of a conversation several years ago in which Suplizio
asked én official of ADS to make these payments as a donation toACommunity Days, Upon
‘agreement, the quarterly payments referenced above began.

Due to City money being associated with the Community Days accounts, the money should
have been noted in thé Treasurer’s Report within the City’s oversight and included in th;e City’s
financial system. 'Shepa-rd noted that the only accounts that were within the City’s computerized
system were included in the Treasurer’s report and the auditors only pulled information from these
documents for purposes ofﬁhe yearly audits.

Suplizio’s responsibilities as City Manager include oversight of the performance reviews

for all City employees, employment issues, and bonuses. The City, for the last ten years, has
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provided bonuses to administrative employees evéry December. Shepherd stated that Suplizio
p‘rovided her with a list of the bonuses and stated that City Council had approved them.

Shepherd testified that bonusés for City employees are determined in an execntive session
of City Council and, since it is a personnel matter, there are fio written reports presented to City
Council or minutes prepared from the executive session. From the time period of 2014 to 2022,
several City employees, including Shepard, received year-end bonuses, Suplizio himself received
substantial bonuses. | |

Although Shepherd is in charge of issuing the checks for reirabursements from the City,
she festiﬁed that she could not recall a time when Suplizio presented her with any receipts for
reimbursement for money he paid out-of-pocket for work-related expenses.

Financial Analysis

SA Sweeney testified that search warrants were executed on April 6, 2022 at the following
locations: Suplizio’s residence- 710 Muntoe Street, DuBois; Suplizio®s office at the DAUW- 223
S. Jared Street, DuBois; and, Supﬁzio’s office and his secretary’s office at the City of DuBois- 16
W. Scribner Avenue, DuBois, Investigators seized the following items of note during executioﬁ
of the search watrants: A ledger from 2011 fo prcsent' for the Community Days checking accoﬁnt;
budgets including income and expenses for AComnmnity Days for the years 2019, 2021 and 2022,
Suplizio’s tax returns with the corresponding recéipfs and a significant amount of cash ($1,000
from 'Suplizio’s office at the DAUW, $800 from Suplizio’s office at the City and $17,000 from
Suplizio’s residence).

Search warrants were also obtained to seize records from Suplizio’s Battalion One Account
and Savings Account held Ey S&T Bank, and from Suplizio’s Janney Montgomery Scott Account

and Ameriprise Account. Additionally, SA Sweeney testified that he obtained bank recoxds for 65
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bank accounts associated with the City of DuBois, DAUW, Suplizio and local fire companies. A
financial analysis was completed on each of the accounts to determine if thete wer‘e frandulent
transéctions. The financial analysis set forth below is based on a review of all the bank records
obtained by subpoena or search warrant, as well as a review of all physical evidence seized during
the search Warrants.

City of_ DuBois General Fund A_ccount

SA Sweeney obtained bank records for 23 accounts associated with the City of DuBois.
Of those accounts, he found fraudulent transactions linked to one account: The City of DuBois
General Fund Account held by S&T Bank. On January 3, 2014, a cash transfer of $3,000 was made
from the City’s General Fund fo Suplizio’s personal savings account that was not associated with
a reimbursement request. A receipt for this transaction was seized from Suplizio’s residence.
| From 2014 through 2021, Suplizio received reimbursement from the General Fund
Account for his mileage and personal cellular telephone use despite the fact that he did not submit
any reimbursement forms. And, despite receiving.réimbursemcnt monies, he would go on to claim
on his tax returns that the expe;xses were never reimbwrsed. The chart below reflects the

reimbursements paid by the City of DuBois.

YEAR AMOUNT PAID
T ] $3,090
3015 7 $3,000
3016 1 ~$3,090
2017 T T $3182.76
018 $3,278.16
2019 B $3,376.56
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2020 ’ 3,477.84

2021 ’ $3,582.24

TOTAL: $26,077.56

- It should be noted that Toni Cherry, Esquire, Solicitor for the City of DuBois; provided
investigators with a May 11, 2020 letter that she authoted in responée to a Right-To-Know tRTK)
request 1'cceived by the City of DuBois. The requested information included “cell phone bills for
814~591*5544’.’ including “detail listing of calls and text messages.” The i'esponsive letter stated
in part,. “...the number for which you seek information is the cell phoﬁe number privately owned
by John F., Suplizio.” The RTK requestor also sought “expense reports and back uﬁ documentation -
for John Suplizio f;n‘ 2015." Attorney Cherry advised that no expense reports and back up
documentation existed for the year 2019 because Suplizio had not ﬁléd for any reimbursement in
2019 and, in fact, Suplizio had never filed for any reimbursement from the City of DuBois during
the prior 15 years. |

In sum, the total amount of fraudulent transactions within this account is $29,077.56.

DAUW Checking Account

SA Sweeney obtained and reviewed records for six accounts associated with the DAUW.
Of those accounts, he found frandulent tranéactions linked to one account: The DAUW checking
account held by S&T Bank on which Suplizio was a signatory. SA Sweeney testified that on
January 3, 2014 (the same date as the $ 3000 cash transfer from the City’s General fund), a cash
transfer of $2,940.58 was made from the DAUW checking account to Suplizie’s personal savings
account that was not associated with any reimbursement i‘equest. The receipt for this transaction

was also seized during the search of Suplizio’s residence.
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From 2014-2021, Suplizio also received reimbursement payments from the DAUW for his
mileage and personal cellulat telephone in the amount of $2,580 per year for a total of $20,640.

The chart below reflects the reimbursements paid by DAUW,

YEAR | AMOUNT
2014 | $2,580.00
2015 — $2,580.00
2016 | $2,580.00
2017 T $2,580.00
- 2018 _ $2,580.00.
2019 T $2,580.00
2020 | $2,580.00
2021 - 2,580.00
| TOTAL: $20,640

(

The Grand Jury learned that for the years 2014-2017, Suplizio submitted the total amounts
received from the DAUW and the City for mileage and personal cellular telephone reimbursements
- as “unreimbursed” business expenses on his personal taxes, essentially triple-dipping for those
expenditures. |

SA Sweenéy also tes.tiﬁed to two additional questionable checks associated with this
account: One dated April 30, 2015 in the amount of $3,900, péyabie to “cash” and cashed by .

Suplizio; and another dated March 30, 20 18 in the amount of $4,200, that Suplizio wrote to himself

and cashed,
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Duting the course of the investigation, SA Sweeney found that Suplizio had a Visa personal
credi; card with JP Morgan Chase. It was determined that between October 2015 and January
2020, Suplizio paid his credit card bill with eight checks written on the DAUW account totaling
$10,252.72. The checks were written fo Visa and DAUW auditors advised that there should never

have been any payments to a personal credit card, The payments to Visa are summarized in the

chart below.
DATE _ AMOUNT
10/3/2015 $2,354.63
3312016 $19345 ‘
4/6/2016 $283.20
8/1/2016 : $179.75
8/1/2016 $1,468.29
10/1/2016 $1,973.40 | o
T $1,475.00
1/20/2020 $2,325.00
 TOTAL: $10252.72

The total amount of fraudulent transactions involving the DAUW checking account is
$41,933.30.

DVED Community Days Accounts

SA Sweeney obtained and reviewed records for four accounts associated with DVFD

Comumunity Days and found fraudulent transactions in three of the four accounts: The DVFED
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Parade Commiittee Account; The DVFD Flex CD Community Fond Account; and the DVED
Checking Community Fund Account. Suplizio was one of the signatories on all three accounts,

« Parade Committee Account

SA Sweeney testified that a review of Suplizio’s personal Visa credit card account revealed

that between April 2014 and June 2019, Suplizio had written 15 checks to Visa totaling

$131,003,17 from the Parade Committee account. The payments are summarized in the chart

below,

DATE AMOUNT
412512014 $9,259.95
573012014 §2,596.11
671972014 $750.00
6/28/2014 $3,502.50
573872015 T$8,859.95
62212015 "$%,987.33
20R12016 $420.83
41142016 $13,325.00
5/29/2016 $23,331.66
9/18/2016 $033.22
512912017 - $10,434.95
6/24/20i7 $17,124.80

TII15/2018 $16,183.59
512612019 §12,959.95
6/26/2019 $2,343.24
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TOTAL: $131,003.17

Additionally, on June 9, 2015, Suplizio’s secretary used a counter-check to withdraw
$25,000 in cash from this account. She aund Suplizio signed the check and his secretary cashed it.
SA Sweeney testified that investigators have been‘ unable to determine the disposition of that
$25,000. SA Sweeney also testified that a counter-check (ot starter check) is typically only used
when the account has just been opened prior to checkbooks being issued on the account. He also
noted that counter-checks are not numbered like traditional checks making them very difficult to
track. |

| The total amount of fraudulent transactions from the DVED Parade Comumnittee account is

$156,003.17.

s  DVED Community Days CD Account

Detective Kontaxes reviewed the DVFD Community Days CD account aﬁd pre;'aared'a
Profit and Loss detail for the time peﬁod of January 2014 to July 2021. On March 27, 2014,
Suplizio obtained a $12,000 Cashier’s check from the CD account. The remitter on the check was
listed as DVFD and the payee was identified as Suplizio. Almost nine months later, on December
15, 2014, that check was deposited into Suplizio’s personal savings account at S&T Bank.

On March 27, 2015, a $20,000 cash withdrawal was made from the CD account by
Suplizio. Several days later, on March 31, 2015, a $6,000 Cashier’s check was obfained with funds
from an unknown soutce (but suspected to consist of menies from the cash withdrawal four days
earlier). The remitter on the Cashier’s check was listed as DAUW and the payee was identified as
Suplizio. Shostly thereafter, on April 6, 2015, another $20,000 cash withdrawal was made from

the CD account by Suplizio. On April 20, 2015, anothér $6,000 Cashier’s check was obtained
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with funds from an unknown source (but suspected to consist of monies from the cash withdrawal
on April 6, 2015). The remitter elsndA payee on the Cashier’s check was listed as Suplizio. Similaily,
approximately nine months latér, both $6,000 Cashier’s checks were deposited into Suplizio’s
personal savings account. Investigators were unable to determine the disposition of the remainder
. of the cash withdrawals.

Detective Kontaxes testified thatAa.review of Suplizio’s personal Visa credit card account
revealed that betwcgn July 2015 and May 2018, Suplizio obtained five C‘asln'er’s checks totaling
$47,149,56 from the CD account to pay his personal credit card bills. The checks were written to |

Visa with Suplizio identified as the remitter. The payments are summarized in the chart below.

DATE | “AMOUNT
10719/2015 | $11,490.70
0/23/2015 ( $3,458.05
8312015 $4,200.00
13172015 ' $10,463.32
5/25/2018 $17,537.49

TOTAL: $47,149.56

Additional fraudulent transactions wete discovered within this account when SA Sweeney
obtained and reviewed copies of documents seized fmm the search walfants. Specifically, on N
October 16, 2015, Suplizio withdrew $600 from the CD account and obtained a Cashier’s check
with the payee listed as DuBois Central Catholic Alumni Game and remitter listed as Suﬁiizio. He
subsequently used that donation as a deduction on his peréonal income tax return, On the same

date, he withdrew $185 and obtained a Cashier’s check with the payee listed as Greater Dubois
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Area Chamber and SupIizio as the remitter, SimiIérly, he subsequently used that donation as a
deduction on his pe;sonal income tax tetuin. |

SA Sweeney also determined that Suplizio had withdrawn funds from the CD account fo
make political confributions to local politicians. On September 10, 2014, three Cashier’s checks
were obtained by Suplizio in the amounts of $2,000, $1,000 and $1,600, respectively, Suplizio
was a remitter on each one of these checks and they were made payable -to three specific politicians,
On November 2, 2017, Suplizio §btained another $2,000 Cashier’s check with funds from the CD
account. He was the rémittcr and the check was made payable to one of the three politicians.

A review of the campaign finance repoits (CFRS) for these three politicians revealed that
on Seﬁtember 30, 2014, Suplizio contributed $1,000 and énother iuc_ﬁvidual contributed $1,000. A |
review of a second politician’s CFRs showed that on September 25, 2014, Suplizio contributed
© $500 and another individual contributed $500. A review of a third politician’s CFRs showed that
6n Séptember 15, 2014, Suplizio contributed $333, and two other individuals each confributed
$333, A review of the CFRs also revealed that on November 9, 2017, Suplizio once again
contributed $2,000 to one of these politicians,

SA Sweeney also testified that on June 14, 2016, $65,000 Cashier’s check was obtained
with funds from the CD aCCC}mlt; the remitter was listed as DVFD, and, the payee was Suplizio’s
sccretary; The next day that check was cashed and, on June 16, 2016, Suplizio deposited §30,000
in cash into the DVFD Parade Committee account. Investigators have been unable to determine
the disposition of the remaining $35,000 from that initial Cashier’s check.

The Grand Jury learned that Suplizio also made numerous cash withdrawals from the CD
account for which the disposition is unknown to investigators. These transactions are summarized

in the chart below.
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DATE | “AMOUNT
Fone 14,2012 ‘ $35,000
April 26, 2013 l - $35,000
Maich 27, 2014 $3,900
May 23,2014 $35,000
June 10,2015 $50,000
April 12, 2019 $4,500
TOTAL: $163,400

There wete also additional irregularities with both cash withdrawals and Cashier’s checks.
Oﬁ July 25, 2016, a $17,481.96 cash withdrawal from the CD account was made by Suplizio. He
then oﬁtained a $500 Cashiet’s check (remitter and payee unknown) and deposited $16,981.26 into
the DVFD Community Days checking account. Investigators have been unable to determine the
disposition of the $500 Cashier’s check. »

On March 30,2017, 2 $6,000 cash withdrawal from the Cﬁ account was made by Suplizio
at Clearfield Bank and Trﬁst. Several months later, oﬁ July 14, 2017, ile withdrew $4,20’0 from
~ the DAUW S&T bank account to purchase a Treasurer’s check. The withdrawal receipt for this
trémsaction indicated “Reimbuse Steeler Benefit.” Ti;e Treasurer’s check was then deposited into
the CD account; however investigators were unable to determine the disposition of the remainder
of the $1,800 withdrawal. ‘

On June 5, 2018, a $35,000 Cashier’s check was obtained .from the CD. account an&
deposited into the DVFD Parade Commiitee account. On that same day, a check for $35,000 was

written on the Parade Committee account to “Cash-Community Days,” and authorized by Suplizio -
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and his secretary. Suplizio endorsed and cashed the check on the same day. Investigators have
been unable to determine the disposition of the $35,000 Cashier’s check.

There were also several transactions between Suplizio and a family member. On March
27, 2014, two $5,000 Cashier’s checks were obtained from the CD account by Suplizio. The
remitter was listed as DVFD and the payee was a member of Suplizio’ s-famiiy. On April 16,2014,
these two checks were deposited back info the CD account. SA Sweeney testified that these two
$5,000 Caslli_(*;l"s checks may have been reimbursemeit for two $5,000 Citibank checks (dated
August 3, 2010) with the remitter listed as a family member and the payee identified as Suplizio.
Receipts for these two $5,000 checks were seized during the search of Suplizio’s residence. |

The total amount of fraudulent transactions from the DVED Community Days CD account

is $374,134.56.
DVFD CD Account
3/27/2014 Cashier's check $12,000.00
3/27/2015 cash withdrawal $20,000.00
4/16/2015 Cash withdrawal $20,000.00
10/19/2015 payment for personal credit card $11,490.70
9/23/2015 payment for personal credit card - $3,458.05
8/31/2015 payment for personal credit card $4,200.00
7/31/2015 payment for personal credit card $10,463.32
5/25/2018 payment for personal credit card $17,537.49
10/16/2015 Cashier's check _ $600.00
10/16/2015 Cashiet's check $185.00
' Cashier's check- (Political :
9/10/2014 Donation) $2,000.00
‘ Cashier's check- (Political
9/10/2014 Donation) $1,000.00
Cashiet's check- (Political
9/10/2014 Donation) $1,000.00
Cashier's check- (Political
11/2/2017 Donation) $2,000.00
2/26/2014 Cashier's check $20,000,00
3/27/2014 Cashier's check - $2,500.00
6/14/2016 Cashier’s check $35,000.00
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6/14/2012 cash withdrawal $35,000.00

4/26/2013  cash withdrawal $35,000.00
3/27/2014  cash withdrawal v $3,900.00
5/23/2014 cash withdrawal $35,000.00

6/10/2015 cash withdrawal _ $50,000.00
7/25/2016 Cashier's check $500.00
37302017 cash withdrawal : $1,800.00
6/5/2018 Cashier's check $35,000.00
4/12/2019 cash withdrawal $4,500.00
3/27/2014 Cashier's check- Michael Suplizio $5,000,00
3/27/2014 Cashier's check- Michael Suplizio - $5,000.00
' $374,134.56

« DVED Community Fund Checking Account

SA Sweeney prepared an analysis of all credits and debits for the DVF D Communi{jz Fund
checking account. He stated that on September 26, 2017, Suplizio used a counter-check from the
checking account to obtain a $360 Cashier’s check. - The ledger for the checking account seized
during the execution of the search warrant indicated that this Cashier’s check was used to pay for
a “Republican Dinner.”
| There were also additional cash withdrawals without justification from this account. SA
Sweeney testified that on June 16, 2017, a check was written for $40,000 and authorized by
Suplizio and his secretary. The remitter for the check was listed as DVFD and the payeé was
Suplizio. He endorsed the back of the check and cashed it. Investigators have been unable to
determine the disposition of this cutrency. .

Oﬁ June 17, 2019, ;1 check was written for $30,000 and made payable to Suplizio with
“Casﬁ-Comm Days” written in the memo section. The check was authorized by Suplizio and his

sectetary. Suplizio endorsed the back of the check and once again cashed it.
On June 8, 2021, a check was wriﬁen for $28,000 and authorized by Suplizio and his

secrefaty, It was made payable to “cash” with “Community Days- Performers/Expenses” written
b Y P
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inthe memo section. Suplizio endorsed the back of the check and cashed it. There was no evidence
of this fransaction in the 2021 budget and ledger and, the Grand Jury leaned that checks for this
type of expense were written to the performers themselves, rather than to “cash.”

SA Sweeney tesfiﬂed that the vast majority of the fraud from the DVFD Community Fund
checking account involved Suplizio using checks from this account to pay his personal credit cafd,
From March 2014 to June 2021, Suplizia issued a total of 80 checks totaling $388,523.55 to pay

his credit card bill.

Payments from Advanced Disposal (ADSY Waste Management
As part of their contract with the City of Dubois for collection of waste and recycling,
ADS, now Waste Management, was required to pay a quarterly $15,000 Adnliniétration Fee to the
City of Dubois. The Grand Jury obtained bank accouni: records from 2014 through 2022 as records
- priozl to that time period were unavailable, Records from the DVFD Cominunity Days CD Account
- revealed that five $15,000 checks from ADS and made payable to the City of Duboié were
deposited into that account on January 14, 2014, March 24, 2014, June 25, 2014, September 10,
2014 and December 11, 2014. From March, 2015 through June, 2016, those quarterty $15,000
payments continued to be deposited into the CD Account, but the checks were made payable to
the Parade Committee or the Dubois Cémmunity Days. In July 2016, ADS started to wire their-
guarterly $15,000 payments to the Community Days checking account, Thereafter, from October
2016 through October 2017, Suplizio, on four oceasions, and his secrétary, on one occasion, used
“counter-checks to move funds fiom five of the ADS quarterly payments of $15,000 from the
Community Days checking account to the CD Account. Since that checking account had been
already open for several years, there did not appear to be a legitimate reason to use counter-checks

to move those funds.
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From February 2018 through June 2021, the quamfe,ﬂy $15,000 payments from ADS were
deposited into either the Community Days checking account ot the CD Account, without any quick
tranéfcrs of those funds from the Checking Account ta the CD Account,

On January 24, 2022, a $30,000 check for two quérteriy payments made payable to the
“City of Dubois” and issued by Waste Management, was deﬁosited into the Community Days
Money Market Account, which had replaced the CD Account.

SA Sweeney testified that he reviewed the waitten budgets for Community Days for the
years 2619, 2021 and 2022. He stated that in each of these budgets, the donation listed from ADS
wés a small amount (usually around $1,000) despite the fact that the bank records revéaled that
ADS was paying $15,000 per quarter (or $60,000 per year). Addiﬁonally, SA Sweeney noted from
the budgets and all the sponsorships fisted, Commuﬁity Days took in enough sponsorships or

money from booths that it should have been a self-sustaining event.

Suplizie’s JP Morgan Chase Visa Acémmt

SA. Sweeney analyzed all expenditures made on Suplizio’s petsonal credit card from June
2014 to February 2022. During this time period, a tofal of $677,120.51 in putchases were made.
There were numefous charges on Suplizio’s credit card that were clearly personal such as vacation
eXpenses, utility expenses for his residence,‘ and department store hm‘chases. SA Sweeney also
reviewed the tax deductions on Suplizio’s personal tax returns and noted any expenditures that
Suplizio claimed as deductions as personal expenditures and classified those as personal expenses,
as wcil. The total amount of personal expenditures on his credit card during thé time period was
approximately $499,052.36. Of the remaining expenses, it was unclear from a review of the
records whether the expenses were personal or public expenses. Of the $499,052.36 e)(pendituresb

that were clearly personal, Suplizio paid only $198,551.51 from his personal accounts. The
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remainder of the payments, $300,500.85, came from public accounts anci the checks wese written
directly to the credit card company.

Total Amount of Fraudulent Transactions From all Puﬁlic Aeccounts:

City of DuBois General Fund Account = $29,077.56

DAUW Checking Account = $41,933.30

DuBois VED Parade Committee Account = $156,003.17

DVED Fiex CD Community Fund Account = $374,134.56

DVED Checking Community Fund Account = $210,455.40

TOTAL = $811,603.99

Structured Transactions

SA Sweeney testified that there were numerous transactions whére Swuplizio appeared to be
“st;ucturing” the transactions to avoid reporting téquirements By the banks, Banks are required
by law to report cerfain financial transactions to authorities. This is to ial'event an individual from
using a bank to help them hide illegal moniés .oi‘ petpetrate a fraud. Foi exanﬁple, any transaction
over $10,000 must be reported by the bank. An individual has “structured” a transaction when
they alter the transaction (two deposits of $5,000 each rather than one deposit of $10,000) in order
to avoid the bank’s reporting requirement.

On Décember 16, 2016, Suplizio deposited $8,000 in cash into his S&T savings account.
Shortly aftefward, oﬁ December 20, 2016, he deposited $7,000 into his savings account. On
December 26,2017, Suplizio deposited $8,000 cash into his S&T checking account, The next day,.
he deposited $7,000 cash into tﬁe sayings account,

On December 27, 2018, Suplizio deposited $8,000 cash into his S&T checking account,

Shortly afterward, on December 31, 2018, Suplizio deposited $5,000 into his checking account.
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On November 13, 2019, Suplizio deposited $7,000 cash into‘his S&T checking account.
A few weeks later,.on December 17, 2019, he deposited $8,000 caéh into his S&T savings account.
Then, shortly afterward, Suplizio deposited $7,000 cash into his checking account on December |
24, 20i9. Investigators believe that these deposits represented a pottion of the large cash
- withdrawals that could not be associated with any vlegitimate‘ Community Days expenditutes.

Land Purchase in 2018

SA Sweeney also testified regarding a land purchase in 2018. On Deceﬁaber 28, 2015, |
Suplizio transferred $5,000 to one of his S&T savings accounts and $5,000 into another S&T
savings account from his main S&T checking account. Those transfers raised the balances of each
of those accounts to approximately $10,000. Those accounts maintained the balances for
approximately two and one-half years. |

Then, on June 22, 2018, Suplizio traﬁsferred $9,000 from each of these savings accounts
back into his main checking accdunt, SA Sweeney testified that the effect of structuring these
transactions in this fashion allowed Suplizio to avoid the reporting requiremenf of ti;e bank, On
that same day, Suplizio transferred $46,0§0 from his savings account to his checking account.

Three days later, Suplizio purchased a tent acre plot of land next to the reservoir usihg the
. $46,000 that he ftransferred to his checking account.
~ Comingiing of Funds within Pexsonal Accounts

SA Sweéney obtained and reviewed 26 personal accounts held by Suplizio alone or jointly
with family members, Of those accounts, the following five accounts appeared to be comingled .
with public.funds: A Battalion One Account held by S&T Bank; a checking account held by S&T
Bank; a savings account held by S&T Bank; a Janney Moﬁtgoinery Scott Account; and, an

Ameriprise Account. SA Sweeney testified that there was an incredible amount of movement of
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money between Suplizio’s checking account, savings account and the invesiment account at
Ameritrade. He noted that the Ameritrade account looked more like a checking accdunt than an
investment account with the balance being run down to a smail number and then replenished rather
than steadily growing like a typical investf;;eﬁt account. He also notcdhear coﬁstant movements
between these three accounts, most of which appeared to serve no legitimate purpose.

With respect to the Janney Montgomery Séott account, the Grand Jury learned that on
February ;7, 2020, Supli'zio deposited a check for $75,000 from his personat checking account (that
| had deposits of public monies) into this account.

The Grand Jury learned that on February 9, 2018, Suplizio had opened an investinent
account with Pershing LLC by depositing $300,000 from his personal savings account, He .closed
the Pershiﬁg LLC account on September 17, 2018 and deposited the balance of $307,000 into an
Ameriprise account. The personal checking and savings accounts used to fund these investment
accounts were linked back to the fraudulent transactions involving public funds as set forth above,

After analyzing all the acéounts and documentation seized during the execution of the
search warrahts, Detective Kontaxes prepared a Net Asset Analysis for the years 201 5»2021. This
analysis showed the aniount of money coming in from legitimate sources of income (based on tax
returns) and the amount of money that was being spent per year by Suplizio. The analysis tevealed
that Suplizio was living well beyond his financial means during that time period, In fact, he spent

approximately $750,000 more than he made for the seven year period.
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Analysis of the Personal Accounts of John Herm Suplizio,

Total Expenses QOver and Above Available Income

CY 2015 to 2021
Total Income {US Form 1040 Une 22) ' $142,796 $148,049 $144,424 $170,765 $179,183 $137,282 $191,378
{Subteact Non-Cash Ordinnty Dividends) (52,067) ($2,22) {85,090) 159,705} {$9,177) {59,735) 510,756}
(Add Mon-Cash Capliat toss) _$3.000 $3,000 $3,000 . $3,000- $3,000 $3,000
©rolatincate Adjuited 1o Roh-Cash Reeg 0 Rl T SHEET SRR D S160,0600  Toon BATNO06, 1 eUSNS0S4T i o$183,622]
Fedenal Income and Selj tmp!ownen\'l‘ax] ' {519, 911] . {$21,88s§ (516,738) {523,300} {524,552} {530,164} {528,240}
Sochalt Securdiy Taxes {57,347} {$7,347) 57,8864 {$7,961) {$8,239) {38,537) $8,853)
Medlcare (1.45% of salaries and wages} (52,010 - ($2,009) {52,010} (52,334) {52,446} {$2,612) {52,633)
PA State Taxes 1.07K of Adjusted licome (34412) (54,569} 154,370) (54,945) {55,341} ($5,543) (55,637
Local Tax {1% of Adjusted income {51,437} {$1,493) {51,423} ($1,611) 51,730 {$3,805) {31,836)
Property Taxes {Schedule A Foren 1046} {51,624} {$3,703) {31,752} {63,752) 51,752) {52,059} {52,100}
Mortgage 3nd Interest Expense (Sch. A 1040} 1$2,167) {43,500} {53,851 {$3,093) ($3.274) {51,124) 53,041y
Gifts by Cash or Check (Sch, A Form 1040} v {$10,051) {$15,603) {$19,636) {$21,595) {$21,500) {522,356) {534,000
A\n[h\ﬂa tneomme Adlullcd forTaxes &SchA "o o T LR L R TT X T FLIII T 34470 1 5$104,205 ° §106,3471 I - $99,282) - 3674576
Parsonal sxpmu .
- ChurgéslopeisonaiChasevina 7.0 L ST S100837 T SI00624 - $91,706 - iog9n6ss T - SI12618  C--T§62,006 il - $90243 0 [ oo §652 015 ]
Pessonal Checking Account Exp cmw :
S&T Christmas Club . 5540 $s38 . 4881 427,635 $19,000 $17,600 $16,000
S&T Une of Credit Payoll $18,900 §3,500 $12,000 $1,500
SAT Fransfer to 4124 Son Tim Joint Aced : $1,350 " $200 $1,500 $2,500 $3,000 54,000
‘Vehice Parchase Megan's LandBover $33,600 N
AHIIRIS Y DRAIUR LU TR FYA LT YN v Pl 3,000 21,000 1,000
Cash Withdraws / Depotits less cath gilts above $12,987 $10,697
S&T 8844 Transler for Land Purchases $2,000
S&T 1088 Teanster for Land Purchases $2,000
Personal Cheeking Tramler to Savings Net $41,000 $16,867 570,425 $12,500 §54,675 {$73,000] 465,000
leff 9aronlck Payment 45,000 45,100 $2,870
S&T Tramsfer to 0670 Megan Baummer 41,500 37,100 54,700 $7,290 $16,900
Lexus Purchase $18,500 ) »
Seneca Gaming 36,000 $5,000 $14,000 . $i000 )
SET Traster to 7434 Dayghter Megin $300 $200 $2,500 $4,000
Las Vegis Teip . 44,000
Land Purchase from Checking ' . $45,425
M5 lovestments Purchase $75,000
Home Impeavements ’ . . . $112,693 $14,738
Total Checking Account Expentes . SHA62r - $64,902 $99,306 $116,760 $86,345 -$144,383 $142,438 | $768,811 ]

Gamb]mg Transactlons

-During the review of the financial records, Trooper Walters noticed some unusual
transactions at a casino, the Allegany Seneca Nation Casino in Salamanca, New York. The Grand
Jury learned that casinos keep-track of transactions for individuals who have a player’s card. While
a gambler is not required to have a player’s card in order to gamble at the casino, the benefit is that
they will receive pei'ks when thc_y use a player’s card. Since Suplizio had a player’s card at fhis
casino, a record of his transactions was maintained.

The casino pmvxded Tlooper Walters with the history of Suphz;o s player's card. This

information is summarized in the chart below.
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YEAR NUMBER OF VISITS | TOTAL CASH “BUYAIN"
WHEN SUPLIZIO'S | AMOUNT
PLAYER’S CARD USED

2014 B | $5 500

2015 4 §7.730

2016 12 ' $38.450
2017 7 §25.980
2018 T ? $28.980

3019 7 T $2.200

7020 » T $400

2021 3 | $2,550

TOTAL: $101,790

EOG Transactions with the City of DuBois

During the course of the investigation, Tfooper Walters learned that the City of DuBois |
had engaged in water sales to several fracking companies, one of which was EOG Resources, Inc.
(EOG). EOG is a drilling company that was engaged in fracking and natural gas extraction around
DuBois. EOG entered into contract; with thé City to buy water to assist in these operations.
Trooper Walters testified that when he learned of the agreement, a subpoena was issued to EOG
for all contracts agd documentation regarding the Cit& of DuBois,

To Trooper Walters® surprise, the only “contracts” that existed between EOG and City were
one page letters from the City to EOG memorializing prior telephone conversations regarding the
price per gallon the City would charge for the water. The letters were signed by Suplizio, EOG

then received invoices from the City and paid the bills with checks.
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Documentation, including endorsed checks, for all transactions between EOG and the City
of DuBois was obtained from EOG and from 2004 to 20f5, 22 payments were made from EOG.
There were several large payments for the water sales from EOG during the time périod, including
three payments that each exceeded $1 million.

‘SA Sweeney testified that he attempted to obtain the bank records to correspond to those
transactions; however, the fargest payments were in 2010 and 2011 and the banks no longer had
any records of those transactions. The large checks from this time period were made oht to the
City of DuBois, but they were stamped and deposited into an unknown account {not noted on the
back of the check).

~ SA Sweeney also testified that there were five different transactions involving payments

fiom EOG directly to Suplizio. He explained that this was a conﬂict of interest because Suplizio
was making agreements on behé.lf of the City and then benefitting financially from s;ﬂes to the
company in a personal capacity, Invoices and copies of endorsed checks were provided by EOG
and involved the sale of equipment by Suplizio to EOG. The invoices inclu_ded‘ Suplizio’s home
address for payment, The transactions were listed as f;)llows:

» 5/11/10- $3,885 for “NON CONTROLLABLE MATERIAL COM?;

e 11/23/10- $2,020,24 for “UNIBODY HYDRANT VALVES”;

e 2/28/11- $1,372.58 for “COMP OTHER COMPLETION EXPENSE”;

e 11/14/11- $3,023.47 for “UNIBODY HYDRANT VALVES;”‘and

o 2/21/12-$2,022.28 for “COMP OTHER COMPLETION EXPENSE”

The total amount paid by EOG to Suplizio was $12,323.57.
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Incident at Sheetz with Mayvor Randy Schmidt

Kathy Potter is employed by Sheetz, Inc. as a loss investigation and secusity operation

manager, In August 2020, Potter received a call from a loss investigator who reported that a man

- was coming into the store frequently, sometimes daily, to order a made-to-order sandwich. While

employees were making the sandwich, he would walk around the store, collect other food iteﬁls?
and pile them up on the connter. He would collect the sandwich, pay for if, and then put the other
items in the sandwich bag without paying for tiiem. Store video indicated that the man was Randy
Schmidt, the mayor of DuBois; he committed such thefts on at leaé.t 16 océasioris.

On the i?"‘ oceasion, August 7, 2020, a loss prevention officer stopped Mayor Schmidt as
he attempted to carry out his theft scheme. The loss prevention officer called the police and DuBois
City officers responded. The Chief of Police arrived and advised that he “didu't know what they
would be doing,” but that he would be in touch. He explained that he did not know whether theré '
was enough evidence to support criminal charges until he looked at the video.

Joanne ‘Bennett, the district manager of Sheetz, was notified of the incidenf and éontacfed
Potter, the loss prevention officer. Suplizio subséquently approached Bennett and asked her if
anything coﬁld be done to pay restitution and “make it go away.” Bennett infonmed Suplizié that
he would need to speak with Potter. When Suplizio contacted Potter, he asked her if there “Wésn't
something we could do to make this go away?” Potter told him there was not anything that coﬁld
be done becauée Schmidt stole produets from Sheetz 17 tiﬁes. Suplizio responded that it was a
shame because Sheetz had always had such a good working relationship with the City of DuBois
and it would be shame if ‘something happened to change that,

Potter felt that Suplizio was trying to intimidate and manipulate her. Potter explained tlzz;t

she could not perform the functions of her job and her loss investigators would not be able to
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perform their jobs if the store did not pursue charges merely because the thief was of high profile.
She explained that they have a duty to freat all subjects the same regardlcsslof their position,
especially when the thefts have occurred 17 times. However, Suplizio persisted.

At some point the conversation ended and another cﬁl! was initiated. Dwring the second
call, Potter made it clear to Suplizio that the store would be pursuing charges and that Schmidt
would not be getting any special treatment. At that point. Suplizio informed Potter that the Chief
of Police from the City of DuBois was also on the call and Suplizio made a remark about how
embarrassing charges against the Mayor would be for the City. Suplizio kept asking whether theré
was s»omeming that could be done, that Schmidt wmllld. make restitution, that Schmidt was stepping
down as Mayor, émd, that he was quite embarrassed. Suplizio asked, “Wouldn't it be easier to just

handle this differently.”

Charges were eventually filed by PSP. There was a delay, not from PSP, but from the Chief

of Police in making the referral due to conflict of interest.

33






